Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





Environment International

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/envint

Review of PAH contamination in food products and their health hazards



Vasudha Bansal, Ki-Hyun Kim*

Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering, Hanyang University, 222 Wangsimni-Ro, Seoul 133-791, Republic of Korea

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 19 April 2015 Accepted 29 June 2015 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons Food products Toxic effects Legislative and preventive measures Public concern over the deleterious effects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) has grown rapidly due to recognition of their toxicity, carcinogenicity, and teratogenicity. The aim of this review is to describe the status of PAH pollution among different food types, the route of dietary intake, measures for its reduction, and legislative approaches to control PAH. To this end, a comprehensive review is outlined to evaluate the status of PAH contamination in many important food categories along with dietary recommendations. Our discussion is also extended to describe preventive measures to reduce PAH in food products to help reduce the risks associated with human intake.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction
2	Classification of PAH and their toxicity 27
2.	Courses of DAL contamination is food product:
5.	
	3.1. Plant-based foods
	3.1.1. Cereal grains
	3.1.2. Fruits and vegetables
	3.1.3. Oils
	3.1.4. Sweets/candy
	3.2 Meat-based food products 31
	211 Land based noducto
	3.2.2. Water-based food products
	3.3. Beverages
4.	Dietary route of PAH intake
5.	How to reduce PAHs in food?
	5.1. Cooking methods
	5.2. Perseverance of fruits and vegetables
	52 Directorian of anythic arganisms 25
	5.4. Bioremediation
	5.5. Catalysts
	5.6. Effect of packaging
6	Conclusion 36
Ack	nowledgment 36
Dofo	nownedginein
Rele	nences

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author. E-mail addresses: kkim61@hanyang.ac.kr, kkim61@nate.com (K.-H. Kim). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) are defined as organic compounds that possess two or more fused aromatic rings of carbon and hydrogen atoms. They are pervasive environmental pollutants that are characterized by their hazardous carcinogenic and mutagenic potential (McGrath et al., 2007; Wegrzyn et al., 2006). PAHs are found ubiquitously, not only in all different environmental media (such as air, soil, and water), but also in various foods we encounter in our everyday life (Lodovici et al., 1995; Moon et al., 2010; Ishizaki et al., 2010; Ghasemzadeh-Mohammadi et al., 2012; Duedahl-Olesen et al., 2013). The primary sources of PAHs are identified as anthropogenic in origin such as the exhaust of motor vehicles, petroleum refineries, heating in power plants, combustion of refuse, deposition from sewage, oil/gasoline spills, tobacco smoke, barbeque smoke, and coke production (Christensen and Bzdusek, 2005; Moon et al., 2006). Due to the lipophilic and hydrophobic characteristics of PAHs, they tend to accumulate in the food chain (Pensado et al., 2005; Shadi et al., 2012). The occurrence of PAHs in food can be ascribed to diverse pathways that include both natural (as environmental) and synthetic sources (e.g. cooking practices and industrial food processing). On consumption, PAHs can be actively engaged in metabolic activation in human mammalian cells, diolepoxides, which have adherence to genetic material DNA, and tissues leading to mutations (Phillips, 1999). Consequently, numerous efforts have been directed to address how precisely and accurately one can quantify the PAHs that are present in food products.

PAHs have received increased attention in recent years because of the diversity of their sources. Dietary intake of PAHs is the major route of human exposure (Xia et al., 2010). In recent years, increases in concentration levels of PAH in various environmental media have been reported not only in developing but also in developed countries, accrediting to their wide spread in food chain through consumption of numerous food stuffs. Dietary intake of PAHs poses the potential health hazards to the public (Xia et al., 2010). Dietary exposure of PAH resulted in enhanced urinary elimination rates relative to occupational exposure (Buckley and Lioy, 1992). Also, PAHs concentrations consumed by local residents of Taiyuan were found to have incremental life time cancer risks, implying the significance of dietary risk (Xia et al., 2013). According to Falco' et al. (2005), the consumption of food stuffs recorded the highest contribution to the intake of pollutants. Such risk is associated with all common dietary components such as vegetables, cereals, and oils followed by consumption of open flame cooked meat (Grova et al., 2006). The burgeoning trend of processed products has led to even higher concentrations of PAHs in foodstuffs. The channelization of their formation in grilled/smoked foods is described in Fig. 1. Furthermore, PAHs also enter into packaged foods through packaging processes (e.g., treatment with polluted oils).

The quantitative assessment of PAHs in food products and human consumption patterns is a focus of interest due to their expeditious formation in food (Moon et al., 2010; Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013). A list of PAHs commonly found in food components are shown in Table 1 with their basic properties and three letter acronyms. The common targets of analysis (as food components) include, but are not limited to, pyrene (PYR), fluorene (FLR), naphthalene (NAP), phenanthrene (PHN), benzo[b]fluoranthene (BBF), benzo[e]fluoranthene (BEF), benzo[a]fluorathene (BAF), anthracene (ANT), fluoranthene (FLT), benzo[a]anthracene (BAA), chrysene (CHY), benzo[k]fluoranthene (BKF), dibenzoanthracene (DBA), dibenzopyrene (DBP), and indopyrene (INP) (Phillips, 1999; Srogi, 2007; Xia et al., 2010). PAHs in foods are suggested as one of the major factors contributing to skin and lung cancer (Kameda et al., 2005; Lee and Shim, 2007; Yoon et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2009).

This article is written to describe the significance of PAH contamination in the diverse food products humans take as their main dietary components. To this end, we briefly describe important methods to control exposure through dietary intake.

2. Classification of PAH and their toxicity

The scientific community on foods (SCF) provided a comprehensive review of the toxicity of PAHs in foods in an outlook on December 2002. They placed BAP as a PAH marker for food (as shown in Table 2A). However, at the same time, they suggested the need for additional PAHs in lieu of manifestation of the PAH contamination profile. The need for grouping of other PAHs was also addressed by the EU (European Commission Recommendation No 2005/108/EC). In 2007, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) ruled that there was uncertainty in BAP as a reliable marker. It was in 2007 that the selection commission (2005/108/EC) had asked the member states to survey the 15 compounds in the EC regulations (208/2005). Then, the results were summarized as the 'Findings of EFSA data collection on PAHs in Food' in 2007 (Ciecierska and Obiedziński, 2013). Therefore, in succession, 18 countries submitted their analytical results of various food products for the years 2005–2007. Furthermore, in 2008, the SCF determined clear confirmation of the genotoxicity of 15 PAHs (namely, BAA, BBF, BJF, B(ghi)perylene, BKF, benzo(ghi)perylene, BAP, CHY, cyclopental(c,d)pyrene, DBA, dibenzo(ae)pyrene, dibenzo(ah)pyrene, dibenzo(ai)pyrene, INP, and MCH (5-methyl chrysene)) in the somatic cells of experimental animals (European Food Safety Authority, 2008).

As a result, the EFSA in 2008 declared that BAP is not an appropriate marker for the occurrence of PAHs in food. Therefore in 2008, a combination of two PAHs particularly under PAH2 (BAP + CHY), four specific PAHs as PAH4 (PAH2 + BAA + BBF), and PAH8 (PAH4 + BKF, BPY, DBA, and INP) were introduced as more accurate markers. EFSA also concluded that a system of eight substances (PAH8) would not provide much added value compared to a system of four substances (PAH4). Following this, the EU commission (2011) established regulation guidelines for the maximum levels of PAH4 in food matrices. EFSA deduced that such system would ensure the PAH levels in food under the restraint that do not cause health concern and that the amount of PAH can also be controlled in those samples in which BAP is not detectable, but where other PAHs are present. It was regarded that for the sum of the four substances (PAH4), the lower bound concentrations should be used as the basis for adherence of safe standards.

Earlier in 2006, the maximum PAH levels for various food products were established by European Commission regulation. In 2011, a new guideline for the maximum PAH levels (of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1881/2006) was updated by commission regulation in 2011 (EU No 835/2011) (as shown in Table 2B). To date, the legislative



Fig. 1. Channelization of the PAH formation route in grilled/smoked food.

Table 1

List of important polycyclic aromatic compounds (PAHs) as major contaminants in food components.

Order	РАН	Abbreviation	Chemical formula	CAS number	Molecular mass (g/mol)	Toxic equivalency factor (TEF)	Structure
1	Napthalene	NAP	C10H8	91-20-3	128.17	0.001	\bigwedge
2	Fluorene	FLR	C13H10	86-73-7	166.22	0.001	$\widetilde{\Omega}$
3	Anthracene	ANT	C14H10	120-12-7	178.23	0.01	
4	Phenanthrene	PHN	C14H10	85-01-8	178.23	0.001	
5	Fluoranthene	FLT	C16H10	206-44-0	202.26	0.001	
6	Pyrene	PYR	C16H10	129-00-0	202.25	0.001	
7	Benzo[a]anthracene	BAA	C18H12	56-55-3	228	0.1	
8	Chrysene	СНҮ	C18H12	218-01-9	228	0.001	
9	Benzo[a]pyrene	BAP	C20H12	50-32-8	252	1	
10	Benzo[b]fluoranthene	BBF	C20H12	205-99-2	252	0.1	
11	Benzo[e]pyrene	BEP	C20H12	192-97-2	252.31	-	
12	Benzo[j]fluoranthene	BJF	C20H12	205-82-3	252	-	9.0
13	Benzo[k]fluoranthene	BKF	C20H12	207-08-09	252	0.01	Qm
14	Dibenzo[a,h]anthracene	DBA	C22H14	53-70-3	278	1	
15	Indo[123-cd]pyrene	IP	C22H12	193-39-5	276	0.1	
16	Dibenzo[aL]pyrene	DBP	C24H14	191-30-0	302	-	

guidelines for PAH levels have been lacking due to the complexity of the matrices containing the food components. Therefore, there is a need for accumulation of more reliable data based on accurate quantification of the PAH contained in various foods. As such, the guidance levels are to be further refined for proper regulation of the deleterious targets, specifically 15 genotoxic PAHs as well as PAH8.

The presence of carcinogenicity in PAHs has drawn a great deal of concern. Toxic equivalency factors (TEFs^{carc}) are commonly used to quantify the toxicity or carcinogenicity of PAHs through the approximation of BAP for calculating the approximation of BAP equivalent doses (Qiao et al., 2006). This approach to risk assessment has been divided

Table 2

Administrative regulation of BAP levels in food. (A) Maximum allowable levels of BAP in regulation (EC no. 1881/year 2006). (B) Maximum levels for BAP Commission Regulation (EU) 835/August 2011.

Order	Food commodity	Maximum level (µg/kg)
1	Oils and fats for human consumption	2
2	Smoked meat and its products	5
3	Smoked fish and the muscle meat of fish	2
4	Processed cereal-based products for infants and young children	1
5	Processed baby foods for infants and infant milk formula	1
6	Seafood including crustaceans, cephalopods	5
	(excluding crab and lobster), and molluscs	
Order	Food commodities	BAP (µg/kg)
Order 1	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products	BAP (µg/kg) 2
Order 1 2	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish	BAP (μg/kg) 2 5
Order 1 2 3	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish Smoked crustaceans and crabs	BAP (μg/kg) 2 5 2
Order 1 2 3 4	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish Smoked crustaceans and crabs Molluscs (fresh, filled, or frozen), heat treated meat products	BAP (μg/kg) 2 5 2 5
Order 1 2 3 4 5	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish Smoked crustaceans and crabs Molluscs (fresh, filled, or frozen), heat treated meat products Smoked molluscs	BAP (μg/kg) 2 5 2 5 6
Order 1 2 3 4 5 6	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish Smoked crustaceans and crabs Molluscs (fresh, filled, or frozen), heat treated meat products Smoked molluscs Oils and fats	BAP (μg/kg) 2 5 2 5 6 2
Order 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish Smoked crustaceans and crabs Molluscs (fresh, filled, or frozen), heat treated meat products Smoked molluscs Oils and fats Cereal-based products for infants and young children	BAP (μg/kg) 2 5 2 5 6 2 1
Order 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Food commodities Smoked meat and smoked products Muscle meat of smoked fish Smoked crustaceans and crabs Molluscs (fresh, filled, or frozen), heat treated meat products Smoked molluscs Oils and fats Cereal-based products for infants and young children Infant milk and milk formulae	BAP (µg/kg) 2 5 2 5 6 2 1 1

into two categories, carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic, by the EPA in 1984. The carcinogenic slope factor was derived from the assays on BAP, which is used for TEF evaluation of PAH. Note that BAP is the only PAH among all known toxic PAHs for the derivation of a carcinogenic factor (Qiao et al., 2006). The values of TEF for each PAH are shown in Table 1. Furthermore, the adverse effects of PAHs have been highlighted not only for a variety of cancers but also for the nongenotoxic diseases (such as diabetes mellitus (DM) and cardiovascular disorders) (Burstyn et al., 2005; Grant, 2009; Hu et al., 2015). The incremented incidence of dietary intake of PAHs has resulted in the metabolism defects due to their persistent bioaccumulation in food chain. The PAHs' resistance against degradation hinders the metabolic activity of glucose homeostasis and β -cell function to act as the potential cause of the Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (Andersen et al., 2012; Raaschou-Nielsen et al., 2013; Alshaarawy et al., 2014). These non-genotoxic effects of the continuous environmental and dietary (charred and broiled meat) exposure has become one of the significant casual factors contribution to the development of metabolic syndrome in terms of dyslipidemia and raised blood pressure (Hu et al., 2015).

3. Sources of PAH contamination in food products

There are different pathways of PAH contamination among different foods, as shown in Fig. 2. The occurrence of PAHs in the environment became a matter of high concern because man-made activities are contributing to their existence in routes both known and unknown. Among the various routes, food is the major route of human exposure, particularly among those who do not smoke (Fig. 2). One of their commonest source pathways to raw food (i.e., fruits and vegetables) is the environmental route, pertaining to PAHs present in the soil and air. It can be significant, especially when they are growing next to industrial sources or areas with dense traffic (Fahnrich et al., 2002). In a busy traffic area, the PAH concentration in the soil layer (e.g., a depth of 5–15 cm) was found



Fig. 2. Flowchart showing the pathways of PAH contamination in various food products.

at \approx 3095 µg/kg (Bishnoi et al., 2006). Consequently, changes in their contents were also observed in the microbes growing in the soil, while the growth of other soil organisms that are not conducive to healthy vegetation is proliferating (Andersson et al., 2001). Similarly, contamination of PAH in water can also contribute to human intake of PAHs through drinking such as the direct consumption of aquatic organisms (e.g., crabs, fish, mussels, oysters, and snails) (Fahnrich et al., 2002; Ramalhosa et al., 2009; Dhananjayan and Muralidharan, 2012).

Another efficient pathway of PAH intake is majorly attributed to manmade activities in the form of cooking (grilling, roasting, and frying) and processing (performed at industrial level). The efficiency of this route is dependent on various factors such as heat source, distance of heating, design of the food device, and type of fuel, which can further help foster the production of PAHs in food products (Lijinsky, 1991; Vyrand et al., 2007). Thus, cooking processes play an inevitable role in the formation of PAH which tends to proceed with chemical distortion of the original nutrient contents in foods (e.g., proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids).

3.1. Plant-based foods

3.1.1. Cereal grains

Cereals are one of the major dietary routes of PAH exposure in humans (Orecchio and Papuzza, 2009). Bread is the most common starch product in the human diet. It is a good source of energy, minerals, and vitamins essential for human nutrition (Ciecierska and Obiedziński, 2013). Although the consumption rate of baked and packaged bread has gradually been increasing, the maximum levels of PAHs have not been established. As the baking process requires high temperature, contamination of bread inevitably takes place thereby posing threats.

The effect of toasting bread has been studied with respect to the formation of PAHs (e.g., Al-Rashdan et al., 2010). The PAHs contained in both bread types are compared in Table 1S in Supplementary information. The key representation of Table 1S has been shown through Fig. 3. No BAP was detected in any of the flour, while some low and high weight PAHs were found in the bread. For instance, heavier PAHs (like FLT and PYR) were observed in brown and wheat flour in the range of $1.19-2.19 \mu g/kg$ and $0.71-1.66 \mu g/kg$, respectively. Some low molecular weight PAHs (like NAP, FLR, and PHN) were also found in both white and brown wheat flour.

Alomirah et al. (2011) reported the formation of genotoxic PAHs in pita bread (Table 1S). Although the amount of BAP in Pita bread was negligible, it was found to contain low concentrations of genotoxic PAHs (PAH8) (0.94 μ g/kg) and total PAHs (17.6 μ g/kg). On the contrary, pita bread with meat fat dripping exhibited the highest amount of BAP $(1.92 \ \mu g/kg)$ and PAH8 $(14.0 \ \mu g/kg)$, indicating the probable role of meat fat on the enhancement of PAH formation (Alomirah et al., 2011). As such, the role of pyrolysis was significant as meat fat was dripped onto the heat surface (leading to incomplete combustion). The type of energy used in heating (such as electricity, wood, flame, or solar energy) can also contribute to contamination by PAHs in baked bread. Ahmed et al. (2000) reported the average PAH levels in baked bread, when cooked using solar, solid waste, and electricity. The levels of PAHs in toasted bread were also found in the range of 7.38-18.0 µg/kg (Nieva-Cano et al., 2001). Although the EU endeavored to demarcate the range of PAHs for various foodstuffs, there is a scarcity of information in the case of bread.

3.1.2. Fruits and vegetables

A wide variety of PAHs have been reported in plant-based food products. The accumulation of PAHs in plants can lead to their exposure to humans on a significant level through intake of fruits and vegetables. Indeed, the routes of their contamination are diverse enough to include atmospheric exposure, soil uptake, and autogenous biosynthesis (Guillen et al., 1997). In most cases, atmospheric exposure is identified as the dominant component of all the routes of contamination (Wild and Jones, 1992; Phillips, 1999). It is observed that leafy vegetables are usually more contaminated than stem vegetables owing to their larger, waxy, and cuticle surface area, which is vulnerable to the deposition of PAH. However, the type of pollution source or site (e.g. near industrial set-ups and highways) increases the amount on leafy



Fig. 3. Classification of food product types in relation to PAH contamination.

vegetables. At the same time, they can extend the threat to other nonleafy vegetables as well. Similarly, the root vegetables (potato, radish, and carrot) are prone to uptake PAH more easily from contaminated soil sites (due to their high potential to penetrate beneath the soil) relative to stem vegetables (cucumber, eggplant, and tomato). The PAH concentration in vegetables also depends on the physical distance from sources (industrial emissions) and meteorological conditions. It thus suggests the substantial vulnerability of vegetable tissues towards the accumulation of pollutants such as PAHs from aerial deposits. Therefore, there are three types of PAH uptake routes for vegetables and fruits: 1) contaminated soil, 2) contaminated water uptake, and 3) endogenous synthesis of PAH in tissues (Wennrich et al., 2002).

The sum concentrations of several PAHs (FLR, ANT, FLT, BAP, CHY, BAA, BKF, BBF, DBA, PYR, and INP) in strawberries and apples from an industrial town of Germany (Bitterfeld Wolfen) were 1.9–6.0 and 4.1–15 µg/kg, respectively (Wennrich et al., 2002). Likewise, the total PAH levels (FLR, PYR, BAA, BBF, BKF, and BAP) of apple, pear, and grape in the industrial city of Campinas (Brazil) were 4.05, 4, and 3.77 µg/kg, respectively. It was observed that fruits tend to be less contaminated with PAH than vegetables due to the reduced chance of soil uptake (Rojo, 2003).

Among the vegetables, broad leafy green vegetables like lettuce were reported to have a relatively high concentration of total PAHs for cabbage (9 µg/kg) and lettuce (14 µg/kg) (Rojo, 2003). Many other vegetables like tomatoes (9.50 µg/kg) were also found to have relatively high total PAHs (Rojo, 2003). In addition, Wennrich et al. (2002) also found higher total PAH levels (µg/kg) in various vegetables (lettuce 2.02–4, parsley 15–120, kohlrabi 1–4, potatoes 0.5–1.7, and tomato 0.95–1.5) along with other vegetables like mushroom and radish strips with a pyrene content of 16 µg/kg (Zougagh et al., 2004). Likewise, vegetables grown from Northern China sold in the wholesale markets of China were found to contain ANT, FLT, BAA, and BAP (6.46, 4.05, 3.33, and 4.05 µg/kg, respectively) (Zhong and Wang, 2002). They observed PAH levels in leafy (Chinese cabbage 29, cabbage 23, and celery 31 µg/kg), stem (tomato 14.81, wax gourd 15, and cucumber 12 µg/kg), and root vegetables (potato 12.54 µg/kg), which had high total PAH levels relative to fruit vegetables (eggplant 9.79 µg/kg). However, the peels of roots and fruit vegetables were found to have more PAHs in their pulp than in their core (Zhong and Wang, 2002).

As shown in Table 1S, relatively enhanced PAH content was also measured from root vegetables such as potatoes and carrots (13 μ g/kg) (Ashraf et al., 2013). Bishnoi et al. (2006) observed significantly large quantities (μ g/kg) of total PAHs in radish (128.5), colocasia (69), and potato (59.8). In addition, they found the maximum amount of PAH from cabbage (11.6 μ g/kg) among leafy vegetables, while a relatively low concentration was seen in fruit vegetables. The greatest level of BAP was recorded in potato (3.19 μ g/kg), whereas it was BAA (3.14 μ g/kg) for turnip cores (Bishnoi et al., 2006). Similarly, Zohair (2006) reported 16 PAHs in leafy vegetables, ranging from 1.22 to 12.63 μ g/kg. Since leaves contain a greater surface area, they seem to accumulate more PAHs from the environment (Lin et al., 2005).

Evidence collected to date generally indicates an inclination towards the presence of more PAHs in plant-based uncooked foods (1) tubers (potato, carrot, and radish); (2) stem-based plants (cucumber, tomato, and gourds); and (3) leafy vegetables (cabbage, lettuce, and celery). The PAH content appears to be rather sensitive to environmental and regional variables (Zhong and Wang, 2002; Bishnoi et al., 2006; Zohair, 2006 Ashraf et al., 2012). Generally, PAHs of low molecular weight are engulfed by the waxy surface of leaves due to atmospheric fallout (Ashraf et al., 2013). The main reason for their occurrence is emission from manmade sources (e.g., fossil fuels) and uptake from roots through contaminated soil (Meudec et al., 2006). About 8,600 to 111,000 µg/kg of PAHs were detected from Chinese leafy vegetables (Zhang et al., 2004); it was therefore concluded that the contamination of vegetables occurs more commonly via root channels than via other pathways.

3.1.3. Oils

Fats and oils are significant dietary sources of PAHs. The occurrence of PAHs in vegetable oils is generally explained by the combined effects of many factors and processes including the drying processes of the oil seeds (with the combustion of gases), contamination during solvent extraction, packaging material, soil burn, residue of mineral oils, relocation from contaminated water (or soil), and the raw material of vegetable oil (Amzad and Salehuddin, 2012; Standing Committee on Food Stuffs, 2001). Naturally attained vegetable oils are free of PAHs; however, their contamination proceeds via atmospheric deposition on growing crops or during technological processing (Fromberg et al., 2007). Their concentrations in refined oils are generally in the range of a few µg/kg. In the case of crude oil, it was found to exceed 2000 µg/kg of total PAHs (Moret et al., 2005). The cause of such contamination in a raw material with fatty acids (e.g., linoleic acid in grape seed oil) should probably reflect the effects of the compression of pomace (solids remaining after grape pressing) with heavy bulldozers to reduce the volume of raw material. Likewise, grinding the seeds (or dewaxing) may also facilitate the formation of heavier compounds (five condensed rings or more). Table 1S describes a recent survey of PAH contamination levels that compares various vegetable oils.

Nine PAHs were seen in corn oil, in the range of 6.40–76.08 μ g L⁻¹ where FLT was the highest followed by BKF (Dost and Ideli, 2012). However, the amount of BAP was 10 times higher than the legal level recommended by the European commission (Table 1S). In the case of sunflower oil, 6 PAHs were seen, but at amounts lower than those of other oils (corn and olive). On the contrary, olive contained 3 PAHs (FLT, PHN, and PYR), while BAP was absent in both olive and sunflower oil (Zougagh et al., 2004; Arrebola et al., 2006). The risk of PAH exposure due to consumption of corn oil may be due mainly to its deposition on growing corn crops, as little change in the PAH levels was seen after the refining process (Dost and İdeli, 2012). Nonetheless, some authors have put a great deal of effort into describing the possible role of refining in reducing PAHs levels. According to Teixeira et al. (2007), the contamination levels of PAHs in crude oils differed widely. However, refined oils generally contained low quantities of PAHs relative to crude ones. These authors reported the content of 15 PAHs in samples of various commercial oils (including virgin olive oil, refined sunflower oil, and soybean oil). These oils did not surpass the guideline limits recommended by the German Society of Fat Science (GSFS). Furthermore, Hossain et al. (2012) reported the effect of refining (particularly deodorization and neutralization) on the reduction of light molecular weight PAHs and found a low concentration of PAHs (NAP, PHN, FLR, PYR, CHY, BAP, and BAA) in soybean oil, mustard oil, and coconut oil. Therefore, in terms of safety prospects, the addition of a refining process is likely to help reduce the content of PAHs in vegetable oils.

3.1.4. Sweets/candy

Sweets like chocolates are relished by all age groups worldwide and are a key ingredient in most desserts (milk shakes, candies, cookies, bars, etc.). The main ingredient of chocolate is cocoa. World cocoa consumption was found be 2.83 million tonnes in the previous decade (1990 to 2000) (Medium-term prospects for agricultural commodities, 2010). The consumption of chocolate amounted to about 9.1 kg per capita in Germany as of 2007 (The Association of Germany Confectionary Industry). As the formation of PAH in these sweet products is ascribed to cocoa butter and sugar, they are also a potent source of dietary PAH intake. PAH contamination in chocolate is affected by drying, roasting, winnowing, blending, and fermenting of the cocoa seeds (The world atlas class of chocolate, 2003).

Ziegenhals et al. (2009) analyzed the concentration of PAHs in different types of chocolate at various compositions of cocoa content. The BAP concentration in all the chocolates ranged from 0.07–0.63 µg/kg. However, among the category of fluoranthenes, BBF has more levels than BKF, whereas DBP was not present in detectable amounts (\leq 0.07 µg/kg). It was shown that no correlation existed between the PAH contents in chocolate and the labeled cocoa contents (Ziegenhals et al., 2009). Due to the lack of information on the labels of some chocolate, it was difficult to assess the effect of cocoa butter on

PAH content (Lowor et al., 2012; Ziegenhals et al., 2009). Kumari et al. (2012) analyzed PAH levels (NAP, FLR, PHN, ACN, FLT, PYR, BAP, BAA, BBF, BKF, and DBA) in chocolate candy samples, detecting total PAH in the range of 2.7 to 235 μ g/kg. The mean content of BAP was 1.62 μ g/kg for all samples (n = 25), while FLT, PHN, and PYR were found in fewer samples.

Cocoa butter has long been considered as a source of contamination of PAH owing to the improper drying processes of cocoa beans (Lowor et al., 2012). However, a slight barrier effect by the cocoa shell was observed to prevent PAH formation. European No. 835/2011 amended the contamination regulation pertaining to the cocoa beans and its derivative products to a maximum concentration of 5.0 µg/kg fat for BAP and 35 µg/kg fat for PAH4 (30 µg/kg fat for PAH4 as of April 2015) (Raters and Matissek, 2014). These authors quantified the PAH contents (BAA, CHR, BBF, and BAP) in the samples of cocoa and chocolates as 12.44 µg/kg (fat) for PAH4 and 0.96 µg/kg (fat) for BAP. Thus, relatively low contamination levels of PAH were found in raw coca and semi-finished coca products. A decrease in the content of PAH in cocoa butter samples was observed from a comparative study made over an extended period (1999–2012) from 17 µg/kg (fat) (1999) to 8.8 µg/kg (fat) (2012) in terms of PAH4 (Raters and Matissek, 2014). This decrease was due to the strict code of practices for the drying and smoking processes of cocoa (Codex Alimentarius Commision, 2009). Although limited data are available for PAH content in chocolates and candies, contamination was generally detected at controlled levels.

3.2. Meat-based food products

3.2.1. Land-based products

Meat and its products are a major food consumed all over the world, serving as the most common route of human PAH intake (Alomirah et al., 2011). Barbequed meat products have been consumed by a great proportion of the population (Reinik et al., 2007). In the case of meat products, the most culpable sources of PAHs have been identified as the coke ovens of iron, steel, and aluminum heating in power plants at high temperature (Reinik et al., 2007). The contamination of meat products with PAHs usually occurs due to the combustion of organic matter during the smoking process (Farhadian et al., 2012). Hence, their contamination became worse during the smoking process when using grills made of iron and steel. In line with this observation, the consumption of grilled (or barbequed) meat was the predominant causative factor contributing to 21% of daily intake of BAP in the USA (Kazerouni et al., 2001). In the case of toxic PAHs (FLT, BBF, and BAP), Farhadian et al. (2010) found that beef products contained the maximum amount of BAP (12.5 µg/kg) among various grilled meat products (e.g., grilled chicken, chicken satay, and beef satay), as shown in (Table 1S).

BAP was classified as a possible human carcinogen by the International agency for research on cancer (Agarwal et al., 2009). Relatively high quantities of BAP were detected from pork-based meat (e.g., smoked ham, belly pork ham, and smoked wild boar ham) in the concentrations range of $0.02-17.63 \mu g/kg$ (Jira et al., 2008; Janoszka, 2011). This enhanced level of PAH is likely to reflect the increased fat content in pork products relative to chicken. FLT was not detected in the majority of chicken-based meat products when grilled; in contrast, beef satay was found to be contaminated with PAH FLT in the range of $6.22-13.8 \mu g/kg$ (Farhadian et al., 2010).

The guideline limit of BAP in grilled meat is estimated to be 10.5 μ g/kg (International Agency Research on Cancer, 1993). The amount of BAP was commonly found significantly higher in the preparation of beef and chicken satay (range: 0.62–13.8 μ g/kg). Farhadian et al. (2011) reported the increased presence of FLT, BBF, and NAP in satay of beef and chicken when prepared on the grills and rods. This is because high-protein foods like grilled meat products became contaminated by PAH due to the smoke produced from the incomplete combustion via grilling. Thus, direct heating in grilling process (at high temperature) fosters the direct pyrolysis of food nutrients. However,

this effect of PAH generation on direct grilling the meat products was found to be reduced if two types of pre-treatments (i.e., pre-heating and wrapping (with aluminum and banana leaf)) were applied. It was observed that no carcinogenic PAHs (BAP, BBF, and FLN) were produced in the grilled-meat samples after pre-heating with steam and microwave (Farhadian et al., 2011). In addition, wrapping with aluminum and banana leaf was found to reduce PAHs more effectively than pre-heating treatments (steam and microwave). Therefore, these simple pre-treatments of wrapping and pre-heating can be feasibly exercised both at homes and restaurants to practically reduce the exposure of carcinogenic PAHs to the consumers.

3.2.2. Water-based food products

Seafood has become more popular worldwide. However, this growth has attracted the concern of researchers working on the toxic effects of PAH. Consumers prefer smoked fish due to several reasons such as taste, amount of essential fatty acids, and readiness to eat. Among seafoods, some common preferences include the smoked/grilled/fried cooking of many types of fish (horse mackerel, chub mackerel sardine, mandarin fish, etc.). Along with fish, many other types of seafood are also favored such as shrimp, crab, oyster, scallop, and mussels. Although these species can be contaminated due to cooking, PAH can also be generated in their bodies via metabolic activities (from deposits through air and soil) that lead to accumulation of PAHs in the food chain (Tfouni and Toledo, 2007).

PAH levels in aquatic species have also been determined by many authors, as shown in Table 1S. FLT, PHN, and ANT were present in more than 50% of aquatic samples including mandarin fish, Japanese Spanish mackerel, and robust tongue fish (Zhang et al., 2010). The highest concentrations of FLR, PHN, and ANT were found to be as high as 58, 16, and 18 µg/kg, respectively. The concentrations of PAHs were exceptionally high for fish, shrimps, and crabs surpassing the maximum allowance levels of 30 µg/kg (established by the French government in 2000), as reported by Pensado et al. (2005). However, these authors observed that the concentrations of 12 PAHs in aquatic samples were below the guideline limit of the European Commission (EC, 208/ 2005). The most consumed species of fishes are horse mackerel, chub mackerel, and sardines, which belong to the pelagic food group (Ramalhosa et al., 2012a,b). These species have a global production of 150,000 tonnes per year (FAO, 2008); they are generally found to be the main species in Europe and Portugal where the annual consumption is 56 kg per year per capita (European Commission, 2010). Ramalhosa et al. (2012a,b) reported higher concentrations of naphthalene in these three species (Table 1S). This may be related to the fat content of these species which influences the accumulation of PAH as it is lipophilic in nature. The relative ordering in the fat content was in the order: sardine > chub mackerel > horse mackerel (Ramalhosa et al., 2012a,b). This result signified a positive relationship between lipid content and PAH residual levels (Xu et al., 2011). This provides further evidence that the lipid content of the tissues is the determining factor in the bioaccumulation of PAHs by fish (Basak et al., 2010; Ramalhosa et al., 2012a,b; Xu et al., 2011).

The levels of BAP in smoked Korean fish were seen in the range of 0.17–2.87 μ g/kg (Cho and Shin, 2012). In contrast, total genotoxins (PAH8, chrysene, and BAA) were found in smoked fish as (11.71, 5, and 2.27 μ g/kg, respectively (Alomirah et al., 2011). As many recent studies have found health related contaminants in a variety of fish, marine organisms are good parameters to assess the eco-health of an aquatic environment (Bihari et al., 2007; Serpe et al., 2010). 11). A total of 11 PAHs in mussel samples were seen in the range of 0.2–16 μ g/kg (wet weight) (Alomirah et al., 2011). As such, the major threat to the health of the farmers should also be considered from contamination of their primary source of livelihood (Alomirah et al., 2011).

Among seafoods, shrimps, and squids are also delightful choices for many consumers. Perugini et al. (2007) observed that the concentration levels of several PAHs (ANT, FLT, PYR, BAA, CHY, BBF, and BKF) vary considerably between different seafoods (e.g., cephalopods (squid), crustaceans (shrimps), mussels, and fish) collected from the Gulf of Naples (depth of 30-60 cm). They observed that 72% of mussels had the highest PAH levels of 45-207 µg/kg (fresh weight). In addition, the maximum levels of heavier PAHs (BAP, DBA, and BPY) in mussels were also detected particularly during the winter (December) owing to the inflow of marine and ground water (Perugini et al., 2007). However, at the same time, the fish were not contaminated with heavier PAHs in that period. Fish are supposed to have less metabolizing activity than mussels as they can only take up PAHs in dissolved form (Perugini et al., 2007). The metabolic capacity of PAHs decreases in the order of fish > crustaceans > molluscs (Livingstone, 1994; Stegeman and Lech, 1991; Xia et al., 2012). Hence, the formation of PAHs in sea food is likely to be affected by such factors as the geographical region, presence of pollutants, and season. The levels of some key PAHs (such as ANP, BAP, DBA, ANT, FLR, BAA, BBF, and BKF) were measured from some marine organisms (cephalopods, crustaceans, and fish) in the Adriatic Sea, Italy (Perugini et al., 2007). Accordingly, Atlantic mackerel and European hake were the most heavily contaminated by the PAHs above (44.1 to 63.3 µg/kg), whereas Mediterranean mussels were only moderately contaminated in that respect. This may at least partially reflect the different uptake and metabolic rate of these invertebrate species.

Low weight PAHs are usually found in all marine organisms as they tend to bound more heavily with particulate sediments and are stored in the bottom, which leads to reduced uptake of the heavier ones by marine organisms. As winter is the period of maturation for reproductive cells (or gametogenesis), many species (e.g., oysters) release less PAHs (due to the deposition of eggs and the low metabolization of PAH in marine organisms) (Lemke and Kennedy, 1997; Perugini et al., 2007). Moreover, the rate of PAH deposition to marine organisms is suggested to be affected by the number of variables (like the spawning period, water temperature, and oxygen levels of water) (Perugini et al., 2007).

Similarly, the concentration effect of the area was also investigated by Xia et al. (2012). They analyzed seafood samples (fishes, crabs, shrimps, and oysters) collected from areas of the Mississippi Gulf Coast affected by a deep water oil spill. The effect was studied within the year of the incident (the deepwater horizon oil spill into the Gulf of Mexico in April–July 2010). Although (2 to 6-ringed) PAHs were detected in abundance just after the oil spill, their levels after about one year were considerably reduced relative to the guideline limits set by the NAOO/FDA/Gulf Coast. The concentration levels of total PAHs in fish samples were 19 μ g/kg during the early period, but they decreased to 6 μ g/kg in the later period. Likewise, the PAH levels in the crab and oyster samples were also reduced from 42 to 13 and 34 to 15 μ g/kg, respectively. The decadence (or dissolution) of the oil spill was in fact reflected to a certain degree by variations in the PAHs.

3.3. Beverages

As beverages are instant sources of energy, they are consumed by people of all age groups. Consequently, many industries are implementing innovative methods for the production of liquid products including fresh fruit juices, instant coffee, and milk shakes. Such efforts are also extended to the fortification of infant and human milk formulations. However, all these products use sugar which in turn is procured from burnt sugarcane and its derivative products (Bettin and Franco, 2005; Tfouni and Toledo, 2007; Tfouni et al., 2007). As the PAH levels of these products are often found to be higher, it can pose a formidable threat to humans of all age groups.

Among the various beverages, milk is a key dietary item as well as a representative dairy product. Processing of milk is unique in that it undergoes a number of different stages of heat treatment depending upon the type of milk product and processing technique. The concentration of PAHs was measured from different types of milk samples (e.g., cover raw, pasteurized, ultrahigh treated, semi-skimmed milk, and whole milk) (Naccari et al., 2011). They found contamination in raw milk owing to environmental pollution, while pasteurized and ultra-heat treated milk were affected most significantly in that respect. Interestingly, BAP was detected in all the samples, albeit at low concentrations. Moreover, ANT, PHN, and PYR were seen at high levels relative to the guidelines of the EFSA report on PAHs in food (2008) (Table 1S). Total PAHs were slightly lower in raw milk residues (5.43 μ g/kg) than in pasteurized milk residues (6.52 μ g/kg). In contrast, ultra-heat treated (UHT) whole and semi-skimmed (UHT) milk consistently exhibited relatively enhanced concentrations of total PAHs at 7.79 and 5.94 μ g/kg, respectively (Naccari et al., 2011). The concentration of PAHs is further dependent on the content of milk fat (as PAHs) due to their lipophilic nature incorporating milk fat (Naccari et al., 2011).

Similarly, the PAH contents of the various types of milk and its products (e.g., infant milk, soy milk, skimmed milk, fat milk, custard, and yogurt) were investigated by Aguinaga et al. (2008). Although no PAHs were detected in infant milk, low concentrations of FLR and PYR were found in full fat milk at 0.83–1.04 µg/L and 0.63–1.12 ug/L, respectively. Moreover, PAH levels in skimmed milk were almost negligible, suggesting decreases during the skimming process (Kishikawa et al., 2003). From these findings, it can be inferred that consumption of milk should impose relatively minor exposure risk to PAH.

Tfouni et al. (2007) studied the effect of burnt sugar cane on PAH formation in sugarcane juice and found PAHs in 50% of the samples (Table 1S). To increase the concentration of sugar, the crops are burnt to evaporate water during the harvesting period. Concentration of BAP was found in the range of 0.013–0.021 μ g/kg, which is somewhat higher than the imposed limit 0.009 μ g/kg (Tfouni et al., 2007). No other human carcinogenic PAHs were detected in the samples (Serra et al., 1995; Tfouni et al., 2007).

Coffee is one of the largest selling beverages all over the world. The presence of PAHs in coffee samples was reported, as its contamination was seen to proceed either from primary green beans or through formation during the roasting step. Most PAH contamination enters through roasting, as it is an essential step for enhancing the aroma to maintain its sensory quality. Roasting can be performed by a number of options such as flame toasting, coal grilling, or toasting from a gas or electric oven (usually executed at 220–250 °C). Such processing facilitates carbonization. Orecchio et al. (2009) studied PAHs in coffee brew samples where total PAHs were between 0.52 and 1.8 µg/L; likewise, the concentration of BAP ranged from 0.008 to 0.060 µg/L. A list of the other PAHs detected includes PHN, FLT, FLR, and BKF (as shown in Table 1S).

Apart from juices and milk, alcoholic beverages are also consumed by a large population. The majority of these beverages are contaminated either due to their raw material or storage (i.e., container). Raw material is used in the form of germinated barley in beer. Beverages like whisky are stored in barrels for a long period of time. There are numerous chances that barrels are contaminated either by their wood or direct contact of the wood with the fire during the process of toasting (Chinnici et al., 2006). García-Falcón and Simal-Gándara (2005) investigated the contents of some important PAHs (BAA, BAP, BKF, BBF, and IP) on various types of alcoholic beverages from Spain (Table 1S). In the case of wines, generally low PAHs values were seen particularly for BAP. Spirits (alcoholic beverages) were found to have higher PAH content at high molecular weight; however, aging was unlikely to exert any effect on PAH formation. For some of the less aged drinks, their PAHs were unquantifiable (García-Falcón and Simal-Gándara, 2005). These authors observed that the methods employed for charring the barrels were critical enough to determine the levels of PAH contamination. The barrels made of oak wood are usually charred with the usage of direct heat (in the form of open fire). This charring of the wooden barrels has the major role to play in affecting the PAH levels of stored alcoholic beverages with aging. Oak wood has great strength and hardness and their charring will produce the unwanted materials like PAH being released into the stored wines, brandy, whisky, etc.

Significantly high levels (536–2960 ng/L) of carcinogenic PAH were seen in mate drinks prepared from a herb infusion of roasted leaves, stems of yerba mate, or erva mate with hot or cold water (Kamangar et al., 2008). Likewise, high concentrations of PAHs (FLR, FLT, ANT, BAP, BKF, BBF, PHN, and DBA) were also found in the yerba mate commonly drunk in South America. In all the brands, BAP was found to exceed 35 µg/kg, and total PAHs were 266–2906 µg/kg (Table 1S). This enhancement in PAH levels was mainly attributed to the generation of ash from the combustion of leaves. This accounts for the need for modification of the leaf processing. In addition, the oak wood used for making barrels is supposed to be dried for a period of 1-3 years. However, toasting or drying oak with open fire can lead to the formation of PAHs (Chinnici et al., 2007). This is because toasting in open fire initiates the charring of the oak barrels. This is attributed to rise in temperature during open drying with fire to lead to liberation of materials (such as cellulose, dirt, soil, etc.) from the woods that contaminate the barrels. Also, cork which is used as wine stoppers can further lead to accumulation of PAH in alcoholic beverages (Mazzoleni et al., 2005).

4. Dietary route of PAH intake

The public's interest in dietary exposure to PAHs has been increasing in recent years owing to recognition of their toxic effects and their presence in each category of raw (and processed) foodstuffs. Prior to substantiating dietary recommendations, the route and extent of dietary exposure to PAH needs to be accurately assessed. Although the concentration data of PAH (or other toxicants) in food can be determined by proper analytical procedures, the actual information on toxicant consumption data is procured from dietary surveys conducted on the national level with individuals only as a representative in a sample (Dorne et al., 2009). The data obtained by such a procedure do not confirm the validity of an assumption set for lifetime assessment but conveys the status of a particular period. The collection of data and their evaluation is determined primarily by the type of assessment approaches (such as 24-hour recall method, questionnaires, food frequency method, dietary history, or food purchase method) (Willett, 1998). The homogeneity in the data collection pertaining to the toxicants of a particular group and the analytical techniques used are critical so that the outcome of contaminant exposure should be evaluated and implied properly only on a population set (Helsel, 2005). Quantitative assessment of toxicant exposure is usually targeted by the point estimate or probabilistic approach (Kroes et al., 2002). The description of toxicant exposure in a human population is mentioned in Fig. 4 (Dorne et al., 2009). The former is based on the assessment of two fixed levels i.e., between the consumption level data and the contaminants residue data. In contrast, in the case of the latter, the whole distribution of the consumption and concentration can be easily determined (Dorne et al., 2009).

To understand the dietary intake of food contaminants like PAHs, one needs to describe the relationship between their quantities contained in food products as well as nutritional habits (Xia et al., 2010). In spite of the health benefits of seafood, regular intake of seafood enhances the risk of exposure to toxic chemicals and contaminants (Domingo et al., 2007; Sioen et al., 2008; Moon et al., 2010). EFSA (2008) summarized that the overall dietary exposure, assuming a person of 60 kg, is about 235 ng/day (BAP), 641 ng/day (PAH2), 1168 ng/day (PAH4), and 1729 ng/day (PAH8).

Relatively few studies have been done to evaluate the relationship between PAH consumption and consistent exposure on humans (Binelli and Provini, 2003, 2004). Martí-Cid et al. (2008) studied the dietary exposure of 16 PAHs by analyzing sample foods consisting of cereals, oils, and meat products. The highest individual levels were found at PHN (29 µg/kg), NAP (25 µg/kg), FLR (13 µg/kg), BAP (1.28 µg/kg), BKF (1.31 µg/kg), and IN[123,cd]P (1.44 µg/kg).



Fig. 4. Assessment of chemical toxicant exposure in human population (Dorne et al., 2009).

These levels were found to be higher than a previous survey done in 2000 (Falcó et al., 2003). Potential health risks owing to consumption of seafood in the Korean population were also assessed by Moon et al. (2010). They found that concentrations of total and carcinogenic PAHs in 26 types of common seafood (squid mackerel, croaker, catfish, tuna, oyster, mussel, crab, and shrimp) ranged from 12 to 243 µg/kg and 0.21 to 18.4 µg/kg (dry weight), respectively. The amount of PAH intake for the general population, men, and women was estimated as 15.3, 17.1 and 14 ng/kg of body weight, respectively (Moon et al., 2010). These consumption levels were found to moderately increase the potential risk of cancer in the general population (2.85×10^{-6}) , men (2.93×10^{-6}) , and women (2.68×10^{-6}) compared to the guideline limit (1.0×10^{-6}) by USEPA (2004). Korean men were found to have higher consumption (58.2 g/day) of seafood than Korean women (43.5 g/day) (Moon et al., 2010). Hence, total intake of PAH for the general population of Korea was estimated at 829 ng/day; this estimate is higher than one at 712 ng/day (men) and 626 ng/day (women) of Spain (Falco et al., 2005) or 231 ng/day of Kuwait (Saeed et al., 1995).

In the Taiyuan region of China, the dietary exposure of PAH was more significant from pork products than milk products (Xia et al., 2010). The results indicated that there were some age effects to show the least exposure to children (392.4 ng/d). Adults were found to have more dietary exposure (based on the order of daily consumption products such as wheat, pork, fish, vegetables, and oils) to PAH (572 ng/d). In comparison, the values for adolescents and senior males were 511 and 533 ng/d, respectively. The dietary exposure to grilled meat products has also been examined in Kuwait to cover the population of children, adolescents, and adults (Alomirah et al., 2011). They estimated the major intake of PAH8 in all three population types through total mean dietary intake. These dietary intake data were obtained from a Kuwaiti Nutrition survey based on the 24 h recall method from 683 children/ adolescents (at ages 3-19 years) and 1021 adults (between 20 and 50 years). The mean dietary intakes of PAH8 for children/adolescents and adults were 84.2 and 95.7 ng/day, respectively, while those of BAP were 8.09 and 9.20 ng/day, respectively. In conclusion, grilled vegetables, whole grilled chicken, and meat chicken were found to be the leading contributors to the daily intake of PAH8 among the Kuwaiti people (Alomirah et al., 2011). Their PAH levels in children/ adolescents and adults were found to be comparable with risk levels of developing cancer.

5. How to reduce PAHs in food?

There are a number of approaches to help reduce or suppress the formation of PAHs in food. The practice of preventing the contamination of PAHs into food is summarized in Table 3. By following certain practices of cooking, it is possible to substantially reduce the levels of PAHs. In addition, it is important to protect the ecological systems from which we acquire our food resources.

5.1. Cooking methods

The foremost approach for reducing PAH is the inclusion of alternative cooking methods in the initial stage of food preparation. The concentration levels of PAHs were reduced when cooking food at a lower temperature (Lijinsky and Shubik, 1964; Chen and Lin, 1997; Farhadian et al., 2010). If one can prevent the dripping of melted fat onto the heating surface of charcoal, it will helps prohibit (or suppress) the production of carcinogenic PAH within the food (Lijinsky and Ross, 1967; Farhadian et al., 2011). Moreover, if one can avoid the direct contact of high temperature during grilling (i.e., cooking on direct flame), it also reduces the formation of PAHs (Faradian et al., 2011; Chen and Lin, 1997). The use of minimum heat and keeping food to the farthest point of heating, if combined, can lower their production more efficiently (Rey-Salgueiro et al., 2008; Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013).

As another option for reducing PAH levels, one may consider alteration of the chemical composition of food. If done properly, it could prevent the formation of carcinogenic compounds like heterocyclic aromatic amines (HCAs). For instance, this option was achieved by the addition of compounds with antioxidative properties for the reduction

Table 3

Routes for reducing PAH formation in food.

Meat and fish	• Part of food: Usage of lean meat and fish
products	 Exposing the area containing less fat for grilling
	• Avoid the direct food contact with flames during barbequing
	 Cooking at lower temperature
	 Replacement of traditional wood with grill and kiln
	 Use of electric or gas meat broilers over charcoal
	 Use of acid base marination as lemon juice before grilling
Fruits and	 Vegetation of crops at long distant areas of highways and
vegetables	industrial areas
	 Adherence of crops to horticultural area
	• Protection against the areas of natural emissions of volcanoes
	and forest fires
	 Washing the raw vegetables with oxidizing agents
Oil seeds and oils	• Perform drying processes of oil seeds at lower temperature
	 Avoid direct toasting of seeds
	 Refrain the direct contact of combustion with seeds
Sea food	• Industrial effluents to be disposed away from aquatic organisms
	 Oil spills to be prevented near coastal waters
	Avoid the creosote-treated wood for mussel cultivation

of HCAs (Rey-Salgueiro et al., 2008). Recently, the treatment of lemon juice (such as acidic marination) on beef satay was found to induce a 72% reduction of PAH levels relative to oil based marination, when applied prior to the charcoal grilling of meat (Orecchio et al., 2009). The duration of marination was not critical enough to show a noticeable effect on such reduction. However, as relatively little is known about the effects of marination, more efforts are needed to explain the mechanism of such treatment. There are numerous types of functional foods (herbs, extracts of berries, ginger, garlic, etc.) that have strongly antioxidative natural properties. As such, these foods have potential to engulf carcinogenic compounds. These functional foods are the potent source of bioactive phenolic compounds (Hazra et al., 2010). These bioactive compounds are acidic in nature to engulf the carcinogenic compounds or free radicals by which the concentration of PAH and other hazardous compounds become reduced. Therefore, the marinating effect of herbs and phenolic rich compounds needs to be assessed further to combat the entry of carcinogenic PAH through smoking or grilling.

One of the major intake routes of food-related PAHs is through the consumption of vegetable oils and fats. The same contaminated oil was reported to be used in the bakery industry for the preparation of various cookies and biscuits (Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013). Drying of oil seeds at higher temperature tends to promote the generation of PAH. It is important to avoid direct toasting or roasting of oil seeds (Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013). Nonetheless, low temperature refining processes are suggested to render reduce contamination.

5.2. Perseverance of fruits and vegetables

Fruits and vegetables are prone to aerial deposition of PAHs because of the large waxy leaf surfaces that readily absorb PAHs (Samsøe-Petersen et al., 2002; Tao et al., 2004; Mo et al., 2009). Hence, it is desirable to grow vegetables in soils that are sufficiently distant from industrial sources. It should also be protected against forest and/or volcanic fires, as these fires render the maximum effect of PAH on crops. The effect of fire was found to be insignificant on the vegetation grown in a Spanish town, as exposure to fire was maintained at the lowest levels due to the winds blowing in a horticultural area (Rey-Salgueiro et al., 2008). In contrast, the effect of airborne emissions was more pronounced where vegetation was grown near industrial areas. The contamination level of PAHs in that area was found to be higher by about an order of magnitude than farms (Grova et al., 2002).

A large fraction of the deposited PAHs can be removed e.g., more than 50% if washed thoroughly (SCF, 2002). Similarly, the effect of washing vegetables with oxidizing agents was found to be effective to eliminate PAHs contained in carrots (Zohair, 2006). This author reported that the use of chemical reagents such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)

and potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) contributed significantly to the removal of PAHs in the range of 65.5–97.8% and 79.4–99.9%, respectively. As these chemicals are well known for their high redox potentials, they need to eliminate PAH efficiently. It was clearly proven that the reduction of contaminants was controlled by such factors as the type of individual PAHs and the concentration of the oxidizing agents.

5.3. Protection of aquatic organisms

Just as the contamination of PAHs on plants is transmitted through soil and air, the contamination in water bodies forces their deposition in aquatic organisms. Note that the major fraction of PAH deposition into water bodies is also explained by their transport from the atmosphere (Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013). The load of PAH contamination in aquatic environments cannot, however, be reduced merely by efforts to clear the air. More efforts should be made to prevent incidental exposure such as oil spills and deposition of industrial effluents particularly near coastal areas (Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013). Aquatic organisms (such as fish and mussels) were found to exhibit a strong tendency to metabolize PAHs once deposited on their outer surface (Phillips, 1999; Yebra-Pimentel et al., 2013).

5.4. Bioremediation

In the past few years, a branch of bioremediation has been spread rapidly for the treatment of contaminants such as PAHs. Bioremediation is defined as the process of biologically degrading organic wastes to a material with a harmless state (Bamforth and Singleton, 2005). In this respect, microbial degradation of PAHs has drawn a great deal of attention. Microbes are capable of employing benzene rings as their sources of carbon and energy (Juhasz and Naidu, 2000). Microorganisms have the ability to degrade the multi-ring structure of PAHs with emission of their side products (Samanta et al., 2002). The foremost step in microbial degradation is the incorporation of oxygen atoms at two or more carbon atoms of the benzene ring of the PAH. Such incorporation can then lead to the formation of cis-dihydrodiol to facilitate the conversion to dihydroxylated intermediates (Kanaly and Harayama, 2000; Samanta et al., 2002). The rate of biodegradation can then be stimulated with the adjustment of some key variables such as pH, moisture, oxygen, and chemical alteration.

5.5. Catalysts

The use of a photo-degradation approach under UV light is another important option to treat PAHs, as it can induce the conversion of PAH into less harmful components (aromatic alcohols, ketones, quinines, and ethers) (Bernstein et al., 1999; Šimko, 2005). In fact, the photolytical decomposition of PAHs was also demonstrated to be effective in the aqueous phase (Sabate et al., 2001). Oxygen plays a crucial role in the photo-oxidation of PAH (Kou et al., 2009). This is a recent research trends explored by many authors. Photo-catalytic degradation of PAHs (PHN, ACN, PYR, and BAA) was also exercised using light driven photo-catalysts (tantalum oxynitride and Pt-tantalum oxynitride) (Kou et al., 2009). The application of photo-catalysis has great potential to decontaminate PAHs in water bodies in light of their low water solubility. This property enables the delocalization of their electrons using photo-catalysts (Kou et al., 2009). In addition to photo-catalysis, biocatalysts in terms of microbial degradation can be a major route for the decontamination of PAHs, as pure bacterial strains can be employed to metabolize these substrates (Nadarajah et al., 2002). Furthermore, in the category of biocatalysts, enzymes (oxygenase, dehydrogenase, and liginolytic enzymes) can play a critical role in destabilizing the bonds in a molecule (Trejo-Hernandez et al., 2001). Lau et al. (2003) reported the use of mushroom compost for the degradation of NAP, PHN, and

BAP. These methods can be used as a feasible tool to degrade PAH in water and soil bodies.

5.6. Effect of packaging

As a means to reduce PAHs in smoked food products, the effect of packaging should be considered. Coupling of the smoking medium (solid matrix or liquid media) and packaging was proven to have a considerable effect on reducing PAHs levels. The use of a low density polyethylene (LDPE) layer over smoked meat was found to reduce PAH concentration by more than 50% from their initial levels (Chen and Chen, 2005). The presence of PAHs (e.g., BAA, BBF, and BAP) were determined in roasted duck before and after packaging with LDPE; the concentration levels of BAA, BBF, and BAP were reduced (143 to 130, 3.7 to 1.7, and 3.5 to 4.9 μ g/kg, respectively) after a storage period of 24 hours (Chen and Chen, 2005). The results showed that the packaging was able to reduce the levels of PAHs. Also, immediate packaging of smoked meat is important, since the surface of the smoked/ grilled foods contains most of the PAHs; therefore, instant wrapping (of smoked food) to make direct contact with the sorption (packing) material, can help decrease the retention of PAHs. This is due to the diffusion of PAH to packaging film of similar polarity (non-polar). This process starts immediately after applying the film to the food. As PAHs can be diffused into the multi layers of LDPE, packaging can be considered as a potent solution for reducing the influence of PAH from grilled/smoked foods. Moreover, polytetrafluoroethylene (PET), another important packaging material, was also seen to have good potential to reduce PAHs levels in rapeseed oil (955.1 to 315.1 µg/kg) after filling into PET cylindrical shaped receptacles (Chen and Chen, 2005).

6. Conclusion

In this review, a comprehensive survey of PAH levels in various food products has been presented. These data were also evaluated to generalize the factors and processes controlling their formation in terms of human dietary exposure. The risk factors of PAH exposure are mainly posed by human activities which pose threats to all types (sea/marine and plant) food resources. In addition to human activities, the methods or approaches involved in cooking, processing, and consumption can also exacerbate exposure to PAH. Proper methods of PAH reduction or inhibition need to be taught and adapted to globally, covering all the routes of their transfer, including use of cautious cooking methods, natural chemical agents (such as antioxidants), and prevention of contamination of vegetation in the growing stage. In addition, the applicability of various antioxidants filled with phenolic compounds was evaluated to assess their inhibitory properties for carcinogenic PAH compounds. The use of novel methods in the form of biocatalysts was intensively investigated to find the proper pathway of PAH degradation in food products and their packaging. As such, qualified approaches should be implemented so that risk analysis is communicated to regulate PAH and to maintain the quality and safety of all food products.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.06.016.

Acknowledgment

This study was supported by a grant from the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Education, Science, and Technology (MEST) (No. 2009-0093848).

References

- Agarwal, T., Khillare, P.S., Shridhar, V., Ray, S., 2009. Pattern, sources and toxic potential of PAHs in the agricultural soils of Delhi, India. J. Hazard. Mater. 163, 1033–1039.
- Aguinaga, N., Campillo, N., Viñas, P., Hernández-Córdoba, M., 2008. A headspace solidphase microextraction procedure coupled with gas chromatography–mass spectrometry for the

analysis of volatile polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in milk samples. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 391 (3), 753–758.

- Ahmed, M.T., Abdel Hadi, E.S., El Samahy, S., Youssof, K., 2000. The influence of baking fuel on residues of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and heavy metals in bread. J. Hazard. Mater. 80 (1–3), 1–8.
- Alomirah, H., Al-Zenki, S., Al-Hooti, S., Zaghloul, S., Sawaya, W., Ahmed, N., et al., 2011. Concentrations and dietary exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) from grilled and smoked foods. Food Control 22 (12), 2028–2035.
- Al-Rashdan, A., Helaleh, M.I., Nisar, A., Ibtisam, A., Al-Ballam, Z., 2010. Determination of the levels of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in toasted bread using gas chromatography mass spectrometry. Int. J. Anal. Chem. 2010 (Article ID 821216, 8 pages).
- Alshaarawy, O., Zhu, M., Ducatman, A.M., Conway, B., Andrew, M.E., 2014. Urinary polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon biomarkers and diabetes mellitus. Occup. Environ. Med. 71, 437–441.
- Amzad, Hossain M., Salehuddin, S.M., 2012. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in edible oils by gas chromatography coupled with mass spectroscopy. Arab. J. Chem. 5 (3), 391–396.
- Andersen, Z.J., Raaschou-Nielsen, O., Ketzel, M., Jensen, S.S., Hvidberg, M., Loft, S., et al., 2012. Diabetes incidence and long-term exposure to air pollution: a cohort study. Diabetes Care 35, 92–98.
- Andersson, B.E., Tornberg, K., Henrysson, T., Olsson, S., 2001. Three dimensional outgrowth of a wood-rotting fungus added to a contaminated soil from a former gasworks site. Bioresour. Technol. 78, 37–45.
- Arrebola, F.J., Frenich, A.G., González Rodríguez, M.J., Bolaños, P.P., Martínez Vidal, J.L., 2006. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in olive oil by a completely automated headspace technique coupled to gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. J. Mass Spectrom. 41 (6), 822–829.
- Ashraf, M.W., Salam, A., 2012. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in vegetables and fruits produced in Saudi Arabia. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 88 (4), 543–547.
- Ashraf, M.W., Taqvi, S.I.H., Solangi, A.R., Qureshi, U.A., 2013. Distribution and risk assessment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in vegetables grown in Pakistan. J. Chem. 2013 (Article ID 873959, 5 pages).
- Association of the German Confectionery Industry, 2007. http://www.bdsi.de/zoom/pro_kopf_ verbrauch_2007_schaetzung_en.
- Bamforth, A.M., Singleton, I., 2005. Bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: current knowledge and future direction. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 80 (7), 723–736.
- Basak, S., Sengör, G.F., Karakoç, F.T., 2010. The detection of potential carcinogenic PAH using HPLC procedure in two different smoked fish, case study: Istanbul/Turkey. Turk. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 10, 351–355.
- Bernstein, M.P., Sandford, S.A., Allamandola, L.J., Gillette, J.S., Clemett, S.J., Zare, R.N., 1999. UV irradiation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in ices: production of alcohols, quinones, and ethers. Science 283 (5405), 1135–1138.
- Bettin, S.M., Franco, D.W., 2005. PAHs in spirits. Cienc. Tecnol. Aliment. 25 (2), 234–238.
- Bihari, N., Fafandel, M., Piskur, V., 2007. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and ecotoxicological characterization of seawater, sediment, and mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis from the Gulf of Rijeka, the Adriatic Sea, Croatia. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 52 (3), 379–387.Binelli, A., Provini, A., 2003. POPs in edible clams from different Italian and European markets
- and possible human health risk. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 46, 879–886.
- Binelli, A., Provini, A., 2004. Risk for human health of some POPs due to fish from Lake Iseo. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 58, 139–145.
- Bishnoi, N.R., Mehta, U., Pandit, G.G., 2006. Quantification of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in fruits and vegetables using high performance liquid chromatography. Indian J. Chem. Technol. 13 (1), 30.
- Buckley, T.J., Lioy, P.J., 1992. An examination of the time course from human dietary exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to urinary elimination of 1-hydroxypyrene. Br. J. Ind. Med. 49 (2), 113–124.
- Burstyn, I., Kromhout, H., Partanen, T., Svane, O., Langard, S., Ahrens, W., et al., 2005. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and fatal ischemic heart disease. Epidemiology 16, 744–750.
- Chen, J., Chen, S., 2005. Removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by low density polyethylene from liquid model and roasted meat. Food Chem. 90 (3), 461–469.
- Chen, B.H., Lin, Y.S., 1997. Formation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons during processing of duck meat. J. Agric. Food Chem. 45, 1394e1403.
- Chinnici, F., Natali, N., Spinabelli, U., Riponi, C., 2007. Presence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in woody chips used as adjuvant in wines, vinegars and distillates. LWT Food Sci. Technol. 40 (9), 1587–1592.
- Cho, H.K., Shin, H.S., 2012. Analysis of benzo[a]pyrene content from smoked food products in Korea. Food Sci. Biotechnol. 21 (4), 1095–1100.Christensen, E.R., Bzdusek, P.A., 2005. PAHs in sediments of the Black River and the Ashtabula
- Christensen, E.R., Bzdusek, P.A., 2005. PAHs in sediments of the Black River and the Ashtabula River, Ohio: source apportionment by factor analysis. Water Res. 39, 511–524.
- Ciecierska, M., Obiedziński, M.W., 2013. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the bakery chain. Food Chem. 141 (1), 1–9.
- Codex Alimentarius Commision, 2009. Code of practice for the reduction of contamination of food with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) from smoking and direct drying processes CAC/RCP 68-2009 pp. 1–15.
- Dhananjayan, V., Muralidharan, S., 2012. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in various species of fishes from Mumbai harbour, India, and their dietary intake concentration to human. Int. J. Oceanogr. 2012 (Article ID 645178, 6 pages).
- Domingo, J.L., Bocio, A., Falco, G., Llobet, J.M., 2007. Benefits and risks of fish consumption. Part I. A quantitative analysis of the intake of omega-3 fatty acids and chemical contaminants. Toxicology 230, 219–226.
- Dorne, J.L.C.M., Bordajandi, L.R., Amzal, B., Ferrari, P., Verger, P., 2009. Combining analytical techniques, exposure assessment and biological effects for risk assessment of chemicals in food. Trends Anal. Chem. 28 (6), 695–707.
- Dost, K., İdeli, C., 2012. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in edible oils and barbecued food by HPLC/UV-Vis detection. Food Chem. 133 (1), 193–199.
- Duedahl-Olesen, L., Rose, M., Fernandes, A., 2013. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in foods. Persistent organic pollutants and toxic metals in foodspp. 308–333.
- European Commission, 2010. Facts and figures on the Common Fisheries Policy Edition 2010. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- European Commission, 2011. Commission regulation 835/2011 of 19 August 2011 amending Regulation (EC) EC no. 1881/2006 as regards maximum levels for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in foodstuffs. Off. J. Eur. Union L215, 4–8.

European Commission Regulation (EC) No. 208/2005 of 4 February 2005 amending Regulation (EC) No 466/2001 as regards polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Off. J. Eur. Union L: 34/3. European Food Safety Authority, Food Consumption, Database, 2008. http://www.efsa.europa.

eu/EFSA/ScientificPanels/efsa_locale-117620753812_DATEX.htm. European Union (EU), 2006. Commission Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006

- setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs, J Eur Union L: 364/5. Fähnrich, K.A., Pravda, M., Guilbault, G.G., 2002, Immunochemical detection of polycyclic aro-
- matic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Anal. Lett. 35 (8), 1269–1300. Falcó, G., Domingo, J.L., Llobet, J.M., Teixidó, A., Casas, C., Müller, L., 2003. Polycyclic aromatic hy-
- drocarbons in foods: human exposure through the diet in Catalonia, Spain. J. Food Prot. 66, 2325–2331.

Falco, G., Bocio, A., Llobet, J.M., Domingo, J.L., 2005. Health risks of dietary intake of environmental pollutants by elite sportsmen and sportswomen. Food Chem. Toxicol. 43, 1713–1721.

- FAO, 2008. Fishery and aquaculture statistics. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Department. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Farhadian, A., Jinap, S., Abas, F., Sakar, Z.I., 2010. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in grilled meat. Food Control 21 (5), 606–610.
- Farhadian, A., Jinap, S., Hanifah, H.N., Zaidul, I.S., 2011. Effects of meat preheating and wrapping on the levels of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in charcoal-grilled meat. Food Chem. 124 (1), 141–146.
- Farhadian, A., Jinap, S., Faridah, A., Zaidul, I.S.M., 2012. Effects of marinating on the formation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (benzo [a] pyrene, benzo [b] fluoranthene and fluoranthene) in grilled beef meat. Food Control 28 (2), 420–425.
- Fromberg, A., Højgård, A., Duedahl-Olesen, L., 2007. Analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in vegetable oils combining gel permeation chromatography with solid-phase extraction clean-up. Food Addit. Contam. 24 (7), 758–767.
- García-Falcón, M.S., Simal-Gándara, J., 2005. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in alcoholic drinks and the identification of their potential sources. Food Addit. Contam. 22 (9), 791–797.
- Ghasemzadeh-Mohammadi, V., Mohammadi, A., Hashemi, M., Khaksar, R., Haratian, P., 2012. Microwave-assisted extraction and dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction followed by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry for isolation and determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in smoked fish. J. Chromatogr. A 1237, 30–36.
- Grant, W.B., 2009. Air pollution in relation to U.S. cancer mortality rates: an ecological study; likely role of carbonaceous aerosols and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Anticancer Res. 29, 3537–3545.
- Grova, N., Feidt, C., Crépineau, C., Laurent, C., Lafargue, P.E., Hachimi, A., et al., 2002. Detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon levels in milk collected near potential contamination sources. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50 (16), 4640–4642.

Grova, N., Rychen, G., Monteau, F., LeBizec, B., Feidit, C., 2006. Effect of oral exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on goat's milk contamination. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 26, 195–199.

- Guillen, M.D., Sopelana, P., Partearroyo, M.A., 1997. Food as a source of polycyclic aromatic carcinogens. Rev. Environ. Health 12, 133–146.
- Hazra, B., Sarkar, R., Biswas, S., Mandal, N., 2010. Comparative study of the antioxidant and reactive oxygen species scavenging properties in the extracts of the fruits of *Terminalia chebula*, *Terminalia belerica* and *Emblica officinalis*. BMC Complement. Altern. Med. 10 (1), 20.
- Helsel, D.R., 2005. Nondetects and data analysis: statistics for censored environmental data. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, USA.
- Hu, H., Kan, H., Kearney, G.D., Xu, X., 2015. Associations between exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and glucose homeostasis as well as metabolic syndrome in nondiabetic adults. Sci. Total Environ. 505, 56–64.
- IARC, 1993. International Agency Research on Cancer Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risk to Humans: Some Naturally Occurring Aromatic Amines and Mycotoxins 56. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), Lyon, France, pp. 163–242.
- Ishizaki, A., Saito, K., Hanioka, N., Narimatsu, S., Kataoka, H., 2010. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food samples by automated on-line in-tube solid-phase microextraction coupled with high-performance liquid chromatography-fluorescence detection. J. Chromatogr. A 1217 (35), 5555–5563.
- Janoszka, B., 2011. HPLC-fluorescence analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in pork meat and its gravy fried without additives and in the presence of onion and garlic. Food Chem. 126 (3), 1344–1353.
- Jira, W., Ziegenhals, K., Speer, K., 2008. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) method for the determination of 16 European priority polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in smoked meat products and edible oils. Food Addit. Contam. 25 (6), 704–713.
- Juhasz, A.L., Naidu, R., 2000. Bioremediation of high molecular weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: a review of the microbial degradation of benzo[a]pyrene. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad. 45 (1), 57–88.
- Kamangar, F., Schantz, M.M., Abnet, C.C., Fagundes, R.B., Dawsey, S.M., 2008. High levels of carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in mate drinks. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 17 (5), 1262–1268.
- Kameda, Y., Shirai, J., Komai, T., Nakanishi, J., Masunaga, S., 2005. Atmospheric polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: size distribution, estimation of their risk and their depositions to the human respiratory tract. Sci. Total Environ. 340, 71–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j. scitotenv.2004.08.009.
- Kanaly, RA., Harayama, S., 2000. Biodegradation of high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 182, 2059–2067.
- Kazerouni, N., Sinha, R., Hsu, C.H., Greenberg, A., Rothman, N., 2001. Analysis of 200 food items for benzo[a]pyrene and estimation of its intake in an epidemiologic study. Food Chem. Toxicol. 39 (5), 423–436.
- Kishikawa, N., Wada, M., Kuroda, N., Akiyama, S., Nakashima, K., 2003. J. Chromatogr. B 789, 257.
- Kou, J., Li, Z., Yuan, Y., Zhang, H., Wang, Y., Zou, Z., 2009. Visible-light-induced photocatalytic oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons over tantalum oxynitride photocatalysts. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (8), 2919–2924.
- Kroes, R., Muller, D., Lambe, J., Lowik, M.R., Van Klaveren, J., Kleiner, J., et al., 2002. Food Chem. Toxicol. 40, 327.
- Kumari, R., Chaturvedi, P., Ansari, N.G., Murthy, R.C., Patel, D.K., 2012. Optimization and validation of an extraction method for the analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in chocolate candies. J. Food Sci. 77 (1), T34–T40.
- Lau, K.L., Tsang, Y.Y., Chiu, S.W., 2003. Use of spent mushroom compost to bioremediate PAHcontaminated samples. Chemosphere 52 (9), 1539–1546.

- Lee, B.M., Shim, G.A., 2007. Dietary exposure estimation of benzo[a]pyrene and cancer risk assessment. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 70, 1391–1394.
- Lemke, M.A., Kennedy, C.J., 1997. The uptake, distribution and metabolism of benzo(a)pyrene in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) during the Parr–Smolt transformation. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16. 1384–1388.
- Lijinsky, W., 1991. The formation and occurrence of food-associated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons associated with food. Mutat. Res. 259, 251–261.
- Lijinsky, W., Ross, A.E., 1967. Production of carcinogenic polynuclear. Hydrocarbons in the cooking of food. Food Cosmet. Toxicol. 6, 343e347.
- Lijinsky, W., Shubik, P., 1964. Benzo(a)pyrene and other polynuclear hydrocarbons in charcoalbroiled. Meat Sci. 145, 53e55.
- Lin, D., Tu, Y., Zhu, L., 2005. Concentrations and health risk of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in tea. Food Chem. Toxicol. 43 (1), 41–48.
 Livingstone, D.R., 1994. Recent developments in marine invertebrate organic xenobiotic metab-
- olism. Toxicol. Ecotoxicol. News 1, 88–95. Lodovici, M., Dolara, P., Casalini, C., Ciappellano, S., Testolin, G., 1995. Polycyclic aromatic hydro-
- carbon contamination in the Italian diet. Food Addit. Contam. 12 (5), 703–713.
- Lowor, S.T., Jacquet, M., Vrielink, T., Aculey, P., Cros, E., Takrama, J., 2012. Post-harvest sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon contamination of cocoa beans: a simulation. Int. J. Agric. Sci. 2, 1043–1052.
- Martí-Cid, R., Llobet, J.M., Castell, V., Domingo, J.L., 2008. Evolution of the dietary exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in Catalonia, Spain. Food Chem. Toxicol. 46 (9), 3163–3171.
- Mazzoleni, V., Dallagiovanna, L., Trevisan, M., Nicelli, M., 2005. Persistent organic pollutants in cork used for production of wine stoppers. Chemosphere 58, 1547–1552.
- McGrath, T.E., Wooten, J.B., Geoffrey Chan, W., Hajaligol, M.R., 2007. Formation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from tobacco: the link between low temperature residual solid (char) and PAH formation. Food Chem. Toxicol. 45 (6), 1039–1050.
- Medium-term prospect for agricultural commodities: projections to the year 2010. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome (Available from: ftp:// ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/006/y5143e/y5143e00.pdf. Accessed May–Jul 2011).
- Meudec, A., Dussauze, J., Deslandes, E., Poupart, N., 2006. Evidence for bioaccumulation of PAHs within internal shoot tissues by a halophytic plant artificially exposed to petroleumpolluted sediments. Chemosphere 65 (3), 474–481.
- Mo, C.H., Cai, Q.Y., Tang, S.R., Zeng, Q.Y., Wu, Q.T., 2009. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and phthalic acid esters in vegetables from nine farms of the Pearl River Delta, South China. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 56 (2), 181–189.
- Moon, H.B., Kannan, K., Lee, S.J., Ok, G., 2006. Atmospheric deposition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in an urban and a suburban area of Korea from 2002 to 2004. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 51, 494–502.
- Moon, H.B., Kim, H.S., Choi, M., Choi, H.G., 2010. Intake and potential health risk of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons associated with seafood consumption in Korea from 2005 to 2007. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 58 (1), 214–221.
- Moret, S., Purcaro, G., Conte, L.S., 2005. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in vegetable oils from canned foods. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 107 (7–8), 488–496.
- Naccari, C., Cristani, M., Giofrè, F., Ferrante, M., Siracusa, L., Trombetta, D., 2011. PAHs concentration in heat-treated milk samples. Food Res. Int. 44 (3), 716–724.
- Nadarajah, N., Van Hamme, J., Pannu, J., Singh, A., Ward, O., 2002. Enhanced transformation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using a combined Fenton's reagent, microbial treatment and surfactants. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 59 (4–5), 540–544.
- Nieva-Cano, M.J., Rubio-Barroso, S., Santos-Delgado, M.J., 2001. Determination of PAH in food samples by HPLC with fluorimetric detection following sonication extraction without sample clean-up. Analyst 126 (8), 1326–1331.
- Orecchio, S., Papuzza, V., 2009. Levels, fingerprint and daily intake of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in bread baked using wood as fuel. J. Hazard. Mater. 164 (2), 876–883.
- Pensado, L., Casais, M.C., Mejuto, M.C., Cela, R., 2005. Application of matrix solid phase dispersion in the analysis of priority polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in fish samples. J. Chromatogr. A 1077, 103–109.
- Perugini, M., Visciano, P., Manera, M., Turno, G., Lucisano, A., Amorena, M., 2007. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in marine organisms from the Gulf of Naples, Tyrrhenian Sea. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55 (5), 2049–2054.
- Phillips, D.H., 1999. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the diet. Mutat. Res. Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen. 443 (1), 139–147.
- Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: scientific opinion of the panel on contaminants in the food chain. EFSA J. 724, 10–114.
- Qiao, M., Wang, C., Huang, S., Wang, D., Wang, Z., 2006. Composition, sources, and potential toxicological significance of PAHs in the surface sediments of the Meiliang Bay, Taihu Lake, China. Environ. Int. 32 (1), 28–33.
- Raaschou-Nielsen, O., Sorensen, M., Ketzel, M., Hertel, O., Loft, S., Tjonneland, A., et al., 2013. Long-term exposure to traffic-related air pollution and diabetes-associated mortality: a cohort study. Diabetologia 56, 36–46.
- Ramalhosa, J.M., Paíga, P., Morais, S., Delerue-Matos, C., Oliveira, M.B.P.P., 2009. Analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in fish: evaluation of a quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged, and safe extraction method. J. Sep. Sci. 32 (20), 3529–3538.
- Ramalhosa, M.J., Paíga, P., Morais, S., Sousa, A.M., Gonçalves, M.P., Delerue-Matos, C., et al., 2012a. Analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in fish: optimisation and validation of microwave-assisted extraction. Food Chem. 135 (1), 234–242.
- Ramalhosa, M.J., Paíga, P., Morais, S., Ramos, S., Delerue-Matos, C., et al., 2012b. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon levels in three pelagic fish species from Atlantic Ocean: inter-specific and inter-season comparisons and assessment of potential public health risks. Food Chem. Toxicol. 50 (2), 162–167.
- Raters, M., Matissek, R., 2014. Quantitation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH4) in cocoa and chocolate samples by an HPLC-FD method. J. Agric. Food Chem. 62 (44), 10666–10671.
- Reinik, M., Tamme, T., Roasto, M., Juhkam, K., Tenno, T., Kiis, A., 2007. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in meat products and estimated PAH intake by children and the general population in Estonia. Food Addit. Contam. 24 (4), 429–437.
- Rey-Salgueiro, L., García-Falcón, M.S., Martínez-Carballo, E., Simal-Gándara, J., 2008. Effects of toasting procedures on the levels of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in toasted bread. Food Chem. 108 (2), 607–615.

Rojo, M.C., Camargo, M.C.R., Toledo, M.C.F., 2003. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in Brazilian vegetables and fruits. Food Control 14 (1), 49–53.

Sabate, J., Bayona, J.M., Solanas, A.M., 2001. Photolysis of PAHs in aqueous phase by UV irradiation. Chemosphere 44 (2), 119–124.

- Saeed, T., Al-Yakoob, S., Al-Hashash, H., Al-Bahloul, M., 1995. Preliminary exposure assessment for Kuwaiti consumers to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in seafood. Environ. Int. 21, 255–263.
- Samanta, S.K., Singh, O.V., Jain, R.K., 2002. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: environmental pollution and bioremediation. Trends Biotechnol. 20 (6), 243–248.
- Samsøe-Petersen, L., Larsen, E.H., Larsen, P.B., Bruun, P., 2002. Uptake of trace elements and PAHs by fruit and vegetables from contaminated soils. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (14), 3057–3063.
- SCF, Opinion of the scientific committee on food on the risks to human health of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food 2002 Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/food/fs/sc/scf/out153_ en.pdf http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2012/01/120113102058.htm.
- Serpe, F.P., Esposito, M., Gallo, P., Serpe, L., 2010. Optimisation and validation of an HPLC method for determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in mussels. Food Chem. 122 (3), 920–925.
- Serra, G.E., Pupin, A.M., Toledo, M.C.F., 1995. Ensaios preliminaries sobre a contaminação da cana-de-açúcar e derivados por hidrocarbonetos policíclicos aromáticos. Bol. Soc. Bras. Cienc. Tecnol. Aliment. 29 (2), 134–137.
- Shadi, A., Mazandarani, M.K., Nikpour, Y., 2012. Concentrations of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHS) in sediments of Khowre-Musa System (Persian Gulf). World 4 (1), 83–86.
- Šimko, P., 2005. Factors affecting elimination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from smoked meat foods and liquid smoke flavorings. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 49 (7), 637–647.
- Sioen, I., Van Camp, J., Verdonck, F., Verbeke, W., Vanhonacker, F., Willems, J., et al., 2008. Probabilistic intake assessment of multiple compounds as a tool to quantify the nutritionaltoxicological comflict related to seafood consumption. Chemosphere 71, 1056–1066
- Srogi, K., 2007. Monitoring of environmental exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: a review. Environ. Chem. Lett. 5 (4), 169–195.
- Standing Committee on Foodstuffs, 2001. Outcome of the expert group meeting on 3 October on ways to prevent contamination of olive residue oil and other oils with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH). Summary record of the 85 meeting of the Standing Committee on Foodstuffs, 25 October 2001 (agenda item 9. http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/rc/scfs/ rap09_en.pdf).
- Stegeman, J.J., Lech, J.J., 1991. Cytochrome P-450 monooxygenase systems in aquatic species: carcinogens metabolism and biomarkers for carcinogen and pollutant exposure. Environ. Health Perspect. 90.
- Tao, S., Cui, Y.H., Xu, F.L., Li, B.G., Cao, J., Liu, et al., 2004. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in agricultural soil and vegetables from Tianjin. Sci. Total Environ. 320 (1), 11–24.
- Teixeira, V.H., Casal, S., Oliveira, M.B.P.P., 2007. PAHs content in sunflower, soybean and virgin olive oils: evaluation in commercial samples and during refining process. Food Chem. 104 (1), 106–112.
- Tfouni, S.A., Toledo, M.C.F., 2007. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in cane sugar. Food Control 18 (8), 948–952.
- Tfouni, SA.V., Vitorino, S.H.P., Toledo, M.C.F., 2007. Effect of the process on the contamination of sugar cane and its by-products by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Cienc. Tecnol. Aliment. 27 (1), 76–82.
- The World Atlas of Chocolate. http://www.sfu.ca/geog351-fall03/groups-webpages/gp8/prod/ prod.html.
- Trejo-Hernandez, M.R., Lopez-Munguia, A., Ramirez, R.Q., 2001. Residual compost of Agaricus bisporus as a source of crude laccase for enzymatic oxidation of phenolic compounds. Process Biochem. 36, 635–639.

- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2004. Risk-based concentration table. Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). USEPA, Philadelphia, RA.
- Vyrand, B., Brosseaud, A., Sarcher, L., Varlet, V., Monteau, F., Marchand, P., et al., 2007. Innovative method for determination of 19 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food and oil samples using gas chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry based on an isotope dilution approach. J. Chromatogr. A 1149, 333–344 (84).
- Wegrzyn, E., Grzeskiewicz, S., Poplawska, W., Glod, B.K., 2006. Modified analytical method for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, using sec for sample preparation and RP-HPLC with fluorescence detection. Application to different food samples. Acta Chromatogr. 17, 233.
- Wennrich, L., Popp, P., Zeibig, M., 2002. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon burden in fruit and vegetable species cultivated in allotments in an industrial area. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 82 (10), 667–690.
- Wild, S.R., Jones, K.C., 1992. Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon uptake by carrots grown in sludge-amended soil. J. Environ. Qual. 21 (2), 217–225.
- Willett, W.C., 1998. Nutritional epidemiology. 2nd edition. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- Xia, Z., Duan, X., Qiu, W., Liu, D., Wang, B., Tao, S., et al., 2010. Health risk assessment on dietary exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Taiyuan, China. Sci. Total Environ. 408 (22), 5331–5337.
- Xia, K., Hagood, G., Childers, C., Atkins, J., Rogers, B., Ware, et al., 2012. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Mississippi seafood from areas affected by the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46 (10), 5310–5318.
- Xia, Z., Duan, X., Tao, S., Qiu, W., Liu, D., Wang, Y., Hu, X., 2013. Pollution level, inhalation exposure and lung cancer risk of ambient atmospheric polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Taiyuan, China. Environ. Pollut. 173, 150–156.
- Xu, F.L., Wu, W.J., Wang, J.J., Qin, N., Wang, Y., He, Q.S., He, W., Tao, S., 2011. Residual levels and health risk of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in freshwater fishes from Lake Small Bai-Yang-Dian, Northern China. Ecol. Model. 222, 275–286.
- Yebra-Pimentel, I., Fernández-González, R., Martínez-Carballo, E., Simal-Gándara, J., 2013. A critical review about the health risk assessment of PAHs and their metabolites in foods. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.
- Yoon, E., Park, K., Lee, H., Yang, J.H., Lee, C., 2007. Estimation of excess cancer risk on timeweighted lifetime average daily intake of PAHs from food ingestion. Hum. Ecol. Risk. Assess. 13 (3), 669–680.
- Zhang, Z.L., Hong, H.S., Zhou, J.L., Yu, G., 2004. Phase association of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the Minjiang River Estuary, China. Sci. Total Environ. 323 (1–3), 71–86.
 Zhang, Y.X., Tao, S., Shen, H.Z., Ma, J.M., 2009. Inhalation exposure to ambient polycyclic aromat-
- Zhang, Y.X., Tao, S., Shen, H.Z., Ma, J.M., 2009. Inhalation exposure to ambient polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and lung cancer risk of Chinese population. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (50), 21063–21067.
- Zhang, H., Xue, M., Dai, Z., 2010. Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in aquatic products by HPLC-fluorescence. J. Food Compos. Anal. 23 (5), 469–474.
- Zhong, W., Wang, M., 2002. Some polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in vegetables from Northern China. J. Environ. Sci. Health A 37 (2), 287–296.
- Ziegenhals, K., Speer, K., Jira, W., 2009. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) in chocolate on the German market. J. Verbr. Lebensm. 4 (2), 128–135.
- Zohair, A., 2006. Levels of polyaromatic hydrocarbons in Egyptian vegetables and their behavior during soaking in oxidizing agent solutions. World J. Agric. Sci. 2 (1), 90–94.
- Zougagh, M., Redigolo, H., Ríos, A., Valcárcel, M., 2004. Screening and confirmation of PAHs in vegetable oil samples by use of supercritical fluid extraction in conjunction with liquid chromatography and fluorimetric detection. Anal. Chim. Acta 525 (2), 265–271.